

Provided by OpenSIUC

The Open Court

A MONTHLY MAGAZINE

Devoted to the Science of Religion, the Religion of Science, and the Extension of the Religious Parliament Idea

Editor: DR. PAUL CARUS.

Associates: { E. C. HEGELER MARY CARUS.

VOL. XIX. (NO. 12.)

DECEMBER, 1905.

NO. 595

PAGE

CONTENTS:

Frontispiece. Macbeth. WILHELM VON KAULBACH.
The Kingdom of Heaven and the Upanishads CHARLES JOHNSTON 705
The Reality of the Devil. Editor
A Visit to the Quinault Indian Graves. LAETITIA MOON CONARD, PH. D 737
A Self-Sacrificing God and the Problem of Evil. HENRY W. WRIGHT 745
Euclid's Parallel Postulate. OSWALD VEBLEN
Sampietro's Mother. In Comment on Karma. Editor
The Verse of the Future. C. CROZAT CONVERSE
The Risen Christ. Joseph C. Allen and Wm. Frost Bishop 761
"How Far Have We Strayed from Christianity?"
"Church and State." YVES GUYOT
Book Reviews and Notes

CHICAGO

The Open Court Publishing Company

LONDON: Kegan Paul. Trench, Trübner & Co., Ltd.

Per copy, 10 cents (sixpence). Yearly, \$1.00 (in the U. P. U., 5s. 6d.).



The Open Court

A MONTHLY MAGAZINE

Devoted to the Science of Religion, the Religion of Science, and the Extension of the Religious Parliament Idea

Editor: DR. PAUL CARUS.

Associates: E. C. HEGELER MARY CARUS.

VOL. XIX. (NO. 12.)

DECEMBER, 1905.

NO. 595

CONTENTS:

	PAGE
Frontispiece. Macbeth. WILHELM VON KAULBACH.	
The Kingdom of Heaven and the Upanishads CHARLES JOHNSTON	705
The Reality of the Devil. Editor	717
A Visit to the Quinault Indian Graves. LAETITIA MOON CONARD, PH. D	737
A Self-Sacrificing God and the Problem of Evil. HENRY W. WRIGHT	745
Euclid's Parallel Postulate. OSWALD VEBLEN	75 ²
Sampietro's Mother. In Comment on Karma. Editor	756
The Verse of the Future. C. CROZAT CONVERSE	759
The Risen Christ. Joseph C. Allen and Wm. Frost Bishop	761
"How Far Have We Strayed from Christianity?"	764
"Church and State." YVES GUYOT	766
Book Reviews and Notes	767

CHICAGO

The Open Court Publishing Company

LONDON: Kegan Paul. Trench, Trübner & Co., Ltd.

Per copy, 10 cents (sixpence). Yearly, \$1.00 (in the U. P. U., 5s. 6d.).

The History of the Devil

and

The Idea of Evil

THE HISTORY OF THE DEVIL AND THE IDEA OF EVIL from the Earliest Times to the Present Day. By <u>Dr.Paul Carus</u>. Printed in two colors from large type on fine paper. Bound in cloth, illuminated with cover stamp from Doré Five hundred 8vo pages, with 311 illustrations in black and tint. Price, \$6.00 (30s.).

Beginning with prehistoric Devil-worship and the adoration of demon gods and monster divinities, the author surveys the beliefs of the Summero-Accadians, the Persians, the Jews, the Brahmans, the Buddhists, the early Christians, and the Teutonic nations. He then passes to the demonology of the Middle Ages, the Reformation, and modern times, discussing the Inquisition, witchcraft, and the history of the Devil in verse and fable. The philosophical treatment of the subject is comparatively brief, but the salient points are clearly indicated in every connexion.

"It is seldom that a more intensely absorbing study of this kind has been made, and it can be safely asserted that the subject has never before been so comprehensively treated.... Neither public nor private libraries can afford to be without this book, for it is a well of information upon a subject fascinating to both students and casual readers."—Chicago Israelite.

"As a remarkable and scholarly work, covering a subject not yet exhausted by the scientist and the philosophical historian, this book by Dr. Carus has a peculiar interest for the student, while it has also features of popular interest."—Chicago Record.

"The pictorial illustrations of this subject from earliest Egyptian frescoes, from pagan idols, from old black-letter tomes, from quaint early Christian sculpture, down to the model pictures of Dore and Schneider, add greatly to the value of the book."—Methodist Magazine and Review.

"The work is a triumph of the printer's art, having more than 300 illustrations of the rarest and most curious religious deities, good and bad. For an interesting and instructive volume on demonology, Dr. Paul Carus's work surpasses anything we have ever seen."—Pacific Med. Journal.

"The author has shown great diligence in gathering illustrative material, and it is doubtful if any such collection of ancient and modern, quaint and curious, picturesque and frightful pictures relative to the subject has been before offered to English readers."—Chicago Dial.

"We have several hours' reading here, and it is made the pleasanter by a profusion of gruesome pictures—pictures of the Devil in all his shapes, and of the Devil's wonderful ways with his victims and votaries. The book as a book is charming, as charming as a book about the Devil could be."—Expository Times.

The Open Court Publishing Co.

1322 Wabash Ave. Chicago

London: KEGAN PAUL, TRENCH, TRÜBNER & CO., Ltd.

FRIEDRICH SCHILLER

A Sketch of his Life and an Appreciation of his Poetry

by

Paul Carus

Profusely Illustrated, 102 pages, octavo, boards, cloth back, illustrated cover, price 75 cents

Schiller's Gedichte und Dramen Volksausgabe zur Yahrhundertfeier, 1905

Mit einer biographischen Einleitung. Verlag des Schwänbischen Schillervereins.

The publishers of The Open Court take pleasure in announcing the arrival of a small consignment of the Poems and Dramas of Schiller—published by the Schillerverein of Stuttgart and Marbach on the occasion of the Schiller festival, in May of this year. The work is published in one volume, in large German text, on good paper, with frontispiece, cloth

binding, and tinted edges; 588 pages, large octavo.

Published in Germany at one mark, the cost of ocean freight, customs entry, handling and postage is equal to double the published price, which enables us to offer it to our subscribers, post free, at the actual cost to us of seventy-five cents. Orders executed as received, until supply is exhausted. Unfilled orders to be promptly returned to senders. Owing to the limited number of copies available, the above offer is made to regular subscribers of The Open Court or The Monist—new subscribers not excluded.

THE OPEN COURT PUBLISHING CO.

1322 Wabash Avenue, Chicago, Illinois

London Agents: Kegan, Paul, Trench, Trübner & Co., Limited

HOLIDAY

A selection of \$5.00 worth of books from the titles listed below will be supplied to readers of "The Open Court" postpaid, on short notice, including a year's subscription to "The Open Court." Those who are already paid in advence may have the new subscription entered in the name of a friend as a Christmas or New Year's gift. Send for complete catalogue of "The Open Court" publications.

Mathematicians' Portraits Send for Prospectus

Installment No. 1, 12 portraits, plate paper, \$3.00; Installment No. 2, 12 portraits, plate paper, \$3.00; both for \$5.00. Installment No. 1, Imperial Japanese Vellum, \$5.00; Installment No. 2, Imperial Japanese Vellum, \$5.00; both on this offer for \$8.50.

Philosophical Portrait Series

A collection of sixty-eight Portraits, on fine plate paper, suitable for framing or in portfolio. (See catalogue, page 38.) Set, with portfolio, \$8.50.

A Framing Portrait of Prof. Hugo de Vries

Platino finish, size 10 x 12, unmounted. Price. postpaid, \$1.00.

Species and Varieties: Their Origin by Mutation

By Hugo de Vries. xxiii-830 pp., 8vo., cloth, gilt top; price, postpaid, \$5.00 net.

To Jerusalem Through the Lands of Islam

Among Jews, Christians and Moslems. By MADAME HYACINTHE LOYSON. Preface by PRINCE DE POLIGNAC. Pages viii.-375, cloth, gilt top, 8vo., profusely illustrated, \$2.50 net.

The Travels in Tartary, Thibet and China

of MM. Huc and Gabet. New edition. From the French. Two volumes, 100 illustrations, 688 pages, cloth, \$2.00. One volume, cloth, \$1.25 net.

The Gods of the Egyptians

or Studies in Egyptian Mythology. 98 colored plates and 131 illustrations in the text. Two volumes, pages 548, 440; royal 8vo., cloth, \$20.00 net.

The History of the Devil

And the Idea of Evil from the Earliest Times to the Present Day. By Dr. Paul Carus. Printed in two colors from large type on fine paper. Bound in cloth, illuminated with cover stamp from Dore. Five hundred 8vo. pages, with 311 illustrations in black and tint. Price \$6.00.

The Lost Manuscript

By Gustav Freytag. A novel. Authorized translation from the sixteenth German edition. Two volumes, pages 953, extra cloth, boxed, gilt top, \$4.00; the same in one volume, cloth, \$1.00.

A Pilgrimage to Beethoven

By RICHARD WAGNER. With handsome photogravure of M. Roedig's noted painting of Beethoven. Pages vii. 40. Extra paper. Boards, 50 cents.

OFFERINGS

The Chief's Daughter

A Legend of Niagara. By Dr. Paul Carus. Illustrations by Eduard Biedermann. A story in neat, small octavo. Seven photogravures. Thirteen pen and ink and half-tone illustrations. Special initials and title-page ornaments. Printed on fine paper in large clear type. Bound in cloth. Pages 54. \$1.00 net.

The Crown of Thorns

A Story of the Time of Christ. By Dr. Paul Carus. Illustrations by Eduard Biedermann. Pages 73. Price, cloth, 75 cents net.

Eros and Psyche

Retold after Apuleius. By Dr. Paul Carus. Half-tone reproductions, with ornamental borders, of the famous illustrations of Paul Thumann. Printed from pica type on Strathmore deckle-edge paper, and with classic cover design by E. Biedermann. One of the quaintest stories of the world's folk-lore. Pages xv, 108. Price \$1.50 net.

Karma

A Story of Early Buddhism. By Dr. Paul Carus. Third Japanese art edition. Crepe paper, tied in silk, quaintly illustrated. 75 cents.

Nirvana

A Story of Buddhist Psychology. By Dr. Paul Carus. Illustrations by Kwason Suzuki. Printed on India tint paper. Boards, gilt top. 60 cents net.

Martin Luther

By Gustav Freytag. Now translated for the first time from the famous "Bilder aus der deutschen Vergangenheit." 26 illustrations, pages 130, cloth, gilt top, \$1.00 net.

Friedrich Schiller

A Sketch of his Life and an Appreciation of his Poetry. By Dr. Paul Carus. Profusely illustrated, 102 pages, octavo, boards, cloth back, illustrated cover, price 75 cents net.

The Japanese Floral Calendar

By Ernest W. Clement, M.A. Printed on best paper, profusely illustrated, 60 pages, board cover with cloth back, octavo, price 50 cents net.

The Napoleon Myth

By Henry Ridgely Evans, containing a reprint of The Grand Erratum, the Non-Existence of Napoleon Proved, by Jean-Baptiste Peres, and an Introduction by Dr. Paul Carus. Illustrated, boards, cloth back, price 75 cents net.

My Little Book of Prayer

By MURIEL STRODE. Second edition, printed on Strathmore Japan paper, cloth, with gold lattice side stamp, gilt top, price \$1.00. Printed on Alexandra paper, French grey boards, with blue side stamp and blue edges, price 50 cents net.

The Open Court Pub. Co., 1322 Wabash Ave., Chicago London: Messrs. Kegan Paul, Trench, Trübner & Co., Ltd.

To Jerusalem Through the Lands of Islam

Among Jews, Christians and Moslems

By Madame Hyacinthe Loyson Preface by Prince de Polignac

Pages viii, 375, cloth, gilt top, 8vo., profusely illustrated, \$2.50

HIS remarkable book, the work of one of the most remarkable women of our time, the joint work rather of a remarkable woman and a remarkable man, for Père Hyacinthe is joint-author of it from cover to cover though he is not the writer of it,—this remarkable book is beyond the skill of the reviewer. It would be easy to blame it. Men in a hurry for copy, or in a hate at Pere Hyacinthe, will fill their columns with quite plausible matter for blame, and salt it well with superiority. But when the most is said this is what it will come to, that Madame Hyacinthe Loyson remembers the words, "He that is not against us is on our part," and remembers that they are the words of her dear Lord. He who should say that she exalts the Koran above the Bible, that she sees only the good in Islam, only the evil in Christendom, gives himself into her hands. For she writes down what her own eyes have seen; and though she has many examples of Christian prejudice and many of Muslim charity to record, she never for one moment finds Muhammad standing in her thoughts beside Christ. All that it comes to in the end is this, that Christians are rarely true to Christ, Muslims are often much better than Muhammad.—Expository Times, London.

This is one of the handsomest books of oriental travel which we know. The book pays special attention to the religious conditions of the Copts, Jews and Moslems of the East. It presents a tremendous indictment of the liquor traffic in Malta and elsewhere. The white man's vices are the greatest obstruction to the mission work in the non-Christian world.—Methodist Magazine and Review.

She has woven in much of general archæological and anthropological information. -Records of the Past.

Mme. Loyson, despite her excessive iteration of rather explosive comments, is a woman who cannot help being interesting, so her descriptions of places and account of personal experiences in Egypt and Jerusalem and elsewhere are immensely interesting, and make the reader seem to see it all.—Chicago Evening Post.

Her notes of social visits give interesting pictures of Arab manners. The Arabs she pronounces "the best behaved and most forbearing people in the world," and not unlike "the best type of our New Englanders." She evidently moved in the best society, but even among the common people she noted points in which Christians might learn of Mohammedans. Polygamy, however, is noted as the black spot on the brow of Islam. Evidently the tour of the Loysons accomplished good. It were well if all missionaries were animated by their spirit. The volume is handsomely printed and illustrated.—The Outlook.

The Open Court Pub. Co., 1322 Wabash Ave., Chicago

London: Messrs. Kegan Paul, Trench, Trübner & Co., Ltd.





MACBETH.

BY WILHELM VON KAULBACH.

Frontispiece to The Open Court.

THE OPEN COURT

A MONTHLY MAGAZINE

Devoted to the Science of Religion, the Religion of Science, and the Extension of the Religious Parliament Idea.

VOL. XIX. (No. 12)

DECEMBER, 1905.

NO. 595

Copyright by The Open Court Publishing Company, 1905.

THE KINGDOM OF HEAVEN.

AND THE UPANISHADS.

BY CHARLES JOHNSTON.

WERE a student of the Upanishads, steeped in the golden air of Eastern wisdom, to turn to the Gospels of Palestine, what impression would he receive from them? That of a wonderful difference, and yet of a wonderful likeness. Finding himself in a new world, he would nevertheless encounter on all sides things very familiar. Take these two sentences, for example: "This soul of mine, in the inner being, is smaller than a grain of rice, or a grain of barley, or a grain of mustard-seed....just as, beloved, birds of the air come together to a tree to rest, so indeed all this comes to rest in the soul." Who can fail to think of the well-known words: "The kingdom of heaven is like to a grain of mustard seed....which indeed is the least of all seeds; but when it is grown, it is the greatest among herbs, and becometh a tree, so that the birds of the air come and lodge in the branches thereof."

Here is a parallel even closer. Take first the words of the old scripture of India: "Just as a treasure of gold, hid in a field, is passed by over and over again by those who know not its place and find it not, even so, verily, all these beings enter day by day into the world of the Eternal, and know it not. This, verily, is the soul in the inner being."

It is hardly necessary to add, for comparison, the words of the more familiar parable: "The kingdom of heaven is like unto treasure hid in a field; the which when a man hath found, he hideth, and for joy thereof goeth and selleth all that he hath, and buyeth that field."

¹Chhandogya Upanishad, iii, 14, 3. Prashna Upanishad, iv, 6.

²Matt. xiii. 31, 32.

³Chhandogya Upanishad, viii, 6, 3.

⁴Matt. xiii. 44.

Equally close is the likeness in the following: "Just as a sovereign orders those whom he has set in authority, saying: 'Be ye rulers over these villages and these villages;' thus, verily, the soul disposes the life-powers in this direction and in that." This is exactly the frame of the parable of the talents or pounds, where "a certain nobleman went into a far country to receive for himself a kingdom," and, returning, said to his servant "because thou hast been faithful in a very little, have thou authority over ten cities." All these examples are taken from the "parables of the kingdom." We might get equally close resemblances at other points, as, for example, the "blind leaders of the blind," which recalls the Upanishad sentence, "the deluded wander about staggering, like blind men led by a blind man." Or compare the image of "the salt of the earth" with this singularly vivid and charming passage from the Eastern Wisdom:

"Let the Master teach me more! said he.

"Let it be so, dear! said he.—Put this salt in water, and come to me in the morning.

"And he did so, and the Master said to him:

"The salt you put in the water last night-bring it to me!

"And looking for its appearance, he could not see it, as it was melted in the water.

"Taste the top of it! said he.-How is it?

"It is salt! said he.

"Taste the middle of it! said he.-How is it?

"It is salt! said he.

"Taste the bottom of it! said he.-How is it?

"It is salt! said he.

"Take it away, then, and return to me.

"And he did so; but that salt exists for ever. And the Master said to him: "Just so, dear, you do not see the Real in the world. Yet it is there all the same. And this Spirit is the Self of all that is, it is the Real, it is the

Soul. That Thou Art!"

The passages cited are all taken from the older Upanishads, and are, therefore, several centuries older than Buddhism. It is hardly credible that any of these passages is less than three thousand years old, thus antedating the Gospels by a thousand years.

II.

Our comparisons were made chiefly with the "parables of the kingdom," to which fifteen of the thirty-five parables in the Gospels explicitly belong. Many more of them doubtless belong to the same class, as we can see in the case of the "parable of the pounds,"

⁵ Prashna Upanishad, iii, 4..

⁷ Matt. xv. 14.

Luke, xix. 12.

which is simply introduced as a story by Luke, but which Matthew expressly numbers among the "parables of the kingdom."

It is well, therefore, to consider these parables, as a whole, in order that we may understand the meaning of the words "the kingdom of heaven" which run through them all like a golden thread. These words were not originated by Jesus. The phrase "the kingdom of heaven is at hand," or, more literally, "the realm of the heavens has drawn near," was the rallying cry of John the Baptist, and on his lips had doubtless a Messianic meaning. Jesus adopted the phrase, and we find him first using it himself, and then bidding his disciples to use it, as a text for their teaching. It would be difficult to gain, from the parables of the kingdom alone, any clear idea of the thought of Jesus. We should be at a loss to conceive anything which is like "a pearl, a net, a king entrusting money to his servants, a grain of mustard seed, leaven, wheat" and so forth; and only in the much-disputed "Tao" of the Chinese sage Lao-tse could we find an equal enigma. Nor can it be said that the meaning of the parables, as given by the Teacher, makes the matter altogether plain. Indeed, when we read for instance the explanation of the "parable of the tares," we are conscious that one parable is being explained by another, and so with the "parable of the sower."

A most illuminating sentence is preserved by Luke, though not in relation to the parables. It is in this passage: "And when he was demanded of the Pharisees, when the kingdom of God should come, he answered them and said, The kingdom of God cometh not with observation," or better "with outward show"... "for behold, the kingdom of God is within you."9 This is closely approached by the words of Paul: "the kingdom of righteousness and peace."10

It is noteworthy that the fourth Gospel contains no parables, and while we may in part account for this by saying that the last evangelist, writing in the evening of a long life, sought not to repeat what had already been recorded, but rather to complete the existing records; yet this is only a part of the truth. It would seem rather that John gives no parables, because the teaching of Jesus which he records was not, for the most part, teaching to the multitudes, but was preeminently teaching given to disciples, to "whom it was given to know the mysteries." If this be so, then we may well seek in the fourth Gospel for a more unveiled presentation of the great mystery, a teaching immediate and vivid, not clothed in similitudes and imagery.

We shall find the most direct statement, perhaps, in a verse

⁹ Luke, xvii, 21. ¹⁰ Romans, xiv. 17.

like this, a part of the last great discourse before the tragedy: "If a man love me, he will keep my words: and my Father will love him, and we will come unto him, and make our abode with him." We shall not go very far wrong, if we take this to be a restatement of the wonderful phrase recorded by Luke: "the kingdom of God is within you," for we may believe that the king will dwell within his kingdom.

We come to this, therefore, as the heart of the matter: a clear statement that, as a result of certain things done and experienced, we may look for a certain indwelling of the divine principle of life, even of Divinity itself; and that this indwelling which will make itself known in consciousness, is the beginning of immortality, of a real and realized eternal life. The beginning of the way is very vividly described: "Except a man be born again, he cannot see the kingdom of God."12 It is probable that the reading "except a man be born from above" represents the original thought more closely, and we find this expanded thus: "except a man be born of water and of the Spirit, he cannot enter the kingdom of God." It may be suggested that we have here another phrase taken from John the Baptist, and clothed with a more living meaning, for the Baptist spoke of baptism with the Spirit and fire.¹³ And it is further of high interest to find the fourth Gospel using the phrase "the kingdom of God," though recording none of the "parables of the kingdom."

III.

We saw the first sign of spiritual rebirth thus stated by Jesus: "if a man love me, he will keep my words." A few verses earlier, a somewhat more expanded phrase is used: "he that hath my commandments and keepeth them, he it is that loveth me." It seems fitting to enquire here what commandments are referred to. If we take all the specific commands given in the four Gospels, we shall find them grouping themselves naturally into two classes. The first class includes rules touching the relation of man to the divine power; rules such as this: "No man can serve two masters: for either he will hate the one, and love the other; or else he will hold to the one and despise the other. Ye cannot serve God and mammon." Even stronger is the following: "He that loveth his life shall lose it; and he that hateth his life in this world shall keep it unto life eternal."

Here, at the beginning of the way, we may draw a very close

John, xiv. 23.
 John, xiv. 21.
 John, iii. 3.
 Matt., iii. 11.
 John, xii. 25.

parallel from the Upanishads. The words spoken are put into the mouth of Death, the great Initiator: "The better is one thing, the dearer is another thing; these two bind a man in opposite ways. Of these two, it is well for him who takes the better; he fails of his object, who chooses the dearer. The better and the dearer approach a man; going round them, the sage discerns between them. The sage chooses the better rather than the dearer; the fool chooses the dearer, through lust of possession. Thou indeed, pondering on dear and dearly loved desires, hast passed them by. Not this way of wealth hast thou chosen, in which many men sink. The great Beyond gleams not for the child, led away by the delusion of possessions. 'This is the world, there is no other,' he thinks, and so falls again and again under my dominion."

The phrase attributed to the deluded: "This is the world, there is no other," recalls a good many like the following: "My kingdom is not of this world,"18 or: "In the world ye shall have tribulation: but be of good cheer; I have overcome the world." And it is impossible not to see a close relation between the idea of mammon and the "dear and dearly loved desires" of the Upanishads, the "way of wealth in which many sink," the way of the "lust of possession." The antithesis is even more strongly brought out in an earlier part of the Upanishad, where Death the Initiator, seeking to test the postulant's sincerity, tempts him thus: "Choose sons and grandsons of a hundred years, and much cattle, and elephants and gold and horses. Choose the great abode of the earth, and for thyself live as many autumns as thou wilt. If thou thinkest this an equal wish, choose wealth and length of days. Be thou mighty in the world; I make thee an enjoyer of thy desires. Whatsoever desires are difficult in the mortal world, ask all desires according to thy will. These beauties, with their chariots and lutes—not such as these are to be won by men—be waited on by them, my gifts. Ask me not concerning Death."20

The postulant answers: "To-morrow these fleeting things wear out the vigor of a mortal's powers. Even the whole of life is short; thine, Death, are chariots and dance and song. Not by wealth can a man be satisfied. Shall we choose wealth, if we have seen thee? Shall we desire life while thou art master? But the wish I choose is truly that. Coming near to the unfading immortals, a fading mortal here below, and understanding, considering the sweets of beauty and pleasure, who would rejoice in length of days?"²¹

Katha Upanishad, ii, 1.
 John, xviii. 36.
 John, xvi. 33.
 Katha Upanishad, i, 23, 24, 25.
 Katha Upanishad, i, 26, 27, 28.

If we remember that, in India, elephants are the sign of princely rank, we shall be able to find a fairly vivid expression of "mammon" in the sentence: "sons and grandsons of a hundred years, and much cattle, and elephants and gold and horses....these beauties with their chariots and lutes—not such as these are to be won by mortal men." An expression even more perfectly modern in sound, though probably not less than three thousand years old, is found in another Upanishad: "he who amongst men is rich and happy, a lord, well endowed with all wealth, this is the highest bliss of mankind."22 A man who is "rich and happy and a lord" might very well stand to-day for the type of worldly success, just as in the days of the Vedas. And it would seem that it is precisely this ideal of worldly success which is meant in the phrase: "Ye cannot serve God and mammon." The tremendous tragedy of the Teacher's death shows once for all what meaning he himself attributed to his teaching; for, from the standpoint of worldly success, what could be a more ghastly failure than the felon's death, in the company of thieves?

IV.

The words "he that loveth his life shall lose it; and he that hateth his life in this world shall keep it unto life eternal" strongly remind one of the Upanishad sentence: "when all desires that were hid in the heart are let go, the mortal becomes immortal and reaches the Eternal."23 In the phrase: "he that loveth his life," the Greek word psychē is used, a word which seems to cover one great idea in the New Testament, but whose identity is veiled under several different English words. The same is true of the derived adjective psychikos. For instance, psychikē is translated "sensual" in the verse "this wisdom descendeth not from above, but is earthly, It is translated "natural" in a very famous sensual. devilish."24 passage of Paul's, a passage which comes closer to certain Eastern teachings than anything else in the New Testament. It is worth while substituting the anglicized word "psychical" for "natural," to bring out the original color of this passage: "There are also celestial bodies and bodies terrestrial: but the glory of the celestial is one, and the glory of the terrestrial is another.... So also is the resurrection of the dead. It is sown in corruption; it is raised in incorruption: it is sown in dishonor; it is raised in glory: it is sown in weakness; it is raised in power: it is sown a psychical body; it is raised a spiritual body. There is a psychical body and there is a spiritual body. And so it was written, The first man

²² Brhad Aranyaka Upanishad, iv, 3. ²⁴ James, iii. 15.

Adam was made a living psychē; the last Adam was made a quickening spirit....The first man is of the earth, earthy: the second man is the Lord from heaven....for this corruptible must put on incorruption, and this mortal must put on immortality."²⁵

Paul here teaches some such doctrine as this: There are two realms of our life, beside the mere physical body. There is a psychical body, and there is a spiritual body. The psychical body is the realm of the passions and desires, of all selfish and self-seeking impulses, of which Paul himself has given such full and vigorous lists again and again. Those who live in the psychical body, with no sense of anything higher, he calls "the dead," as in the phrase "to be carnally minded is death"; 26 or in the words, "you who were dead in trespasses and sins." And the most complete worldly success would still leave its possessor numbered among the "dead" in this sense.

Paul then conceives a quickening of the life from above, or "a birth from above" as Jesus expresses it. In the more analytical teaching of Paul, this new birth comes through the intervention of the "spiritual body," the vesture of the Spirit, to which he gives the remarkable title of "the new man, the Lord from heaven." As he views the matter, it would seem that there must first be something like a softening or disintegrating of the psychical body or egotistical nature; there must be a weakening of the force of passion and desire, a "crucifixion" to use the word so often employed by Paul himself, of the body of lust and hate; and then, after this crucifixion, there comes the resurrection, when the man's life is no longer centered in the psychical body but in the spiritual body, in that divine Soul which Paul calls the new man, the Lord from heaven. Paul, everywhere throughout his writings, speaks of the spiritual body as inherently immortal, as already enjoying eternal life; and in his view, salvation is attained through the weakening and disintegrating of the psychical nature, and resurrection into the spiritual and already immortal nature. The immortal nature he speaks of as the Lord from heaven, and the Christ, and recognizes it as identical with the divine life manifested in Jesus. One might say, perhaps, that Paul regarded Jesus as one in whom the psychical and egotistical nature had been completely conquered. and whose whole life was centered in the spiritual body, whose consciousness was altogether that of the new man, the Lord from heaven, and who was, therefore, one with Divinity, one with the Eternal. We might further say that Paul teaches a like transmu-

tation for all those who, from being dead in trespasses and sins, the power of the psychical body, have risen to the life of the spiritual body, and that those who have passed through this resurrection will be "like him in glory," in the fullness of time also entering into the life of the Eternal. This by no means signifies such an absorption as would mean the annihilation of individual being, such an annihilation as is often described by writers on popular Buddhism. One would rather say that real individuality begins only after the new birth, with the transfer of life and consciousness to the spiritual body.

v.

If we consider the matter thus, it will become quite clear why Jesus so imperatively laid down the law that we cannot serve "God and mammon"; and we shall begin to see what is meant by the declaration that "he that loveth his life ($psych\bar{e}$) shall lose it, and he that hateth his life in this world, shall keep it unto life eternal." In the phrase of Paul, the meaning would be something like this: He who sets his heart and all his desires on the life of the psychical body shall lose it, since this is the way of 'death'; but he who weakens the psychical body and passes through the resurrection into the spiritual body shall thus transform his life, raising it to a condition which is inherently immortal, and thus keeping it to life eternal. This transformation, this "baptism from above" is an imperative condition of spiritual, that is, of immortal life; and the setting of the heart on worldly success makes the transformation impossible; for where our treasure is, there will our heart be.

There was a second element in the commandments of Jesus, as we saw. This second element is of the most vital import; moreover, it is much more intelligible than the first, in that it deals with things of common observation, and appeals very strongly to the best side of the emotional nature. For this reason, perhaps, it tends to become more conspicuous than the first, and somewhat to obscure the first. It is what Paul would call the law of charity. It is characteristic of the two teachers, that Paul teaches charity in a piece of splendid eloquence, every sentence of which is of universal import; while Jesus frames the same teaching in a story, and makes the application in the highest degree direct and personal. It is quite impossible to mistake his meaning: "I was an hungred, and ye gave me meat: I was thirsty, and ye gave me drink: I was a stranger, and ye took me in: naked, and ye clothed me: I was sick, and ye visited me: I was in prison, and ye came unto me." 29

²⁸ 1 Cor., xiii, 1.

There is nothing vague here, nothing metaphysical, or capable of being misunderstood even by the simplest heart of man. Rather will the simple of heart most readily comprehend. Yet it is not so much a matter of comprehension as of action. As the teacher said, not merely "he that hath my commandments and understandeth them." but "he that hath my commandments and keepeth them" is beloved of the Father, and to him is the promise made. I am fully convinced that every sentence in the passage just quoted is meant to be literally and fully carried out. This is by no means weakened by the undoubted truth that there will presently arise a deeper understanding of the words. It will presently be seen that there are more ways of being an hungred than mere bodily lack of food, and that they are far more grievous; that there is another nakedness than that of the body, and one harder to bear. There is a hunger for human love; there is the terrible hunger for spiritual life. These also must be ministered to. Yet we can conceive nothing so likely to awake the keen sarcasm of the Teacher, as the pretence that, by claiming to minister to these higher needs, one is exempt from all claims of the lower, and may selfishly live one's life, seeking worldly success, and setting all the desires of the heart on the things that make for it.

It would seem that Jesus held egotism to be the chief sin and impediment to spiritual life; and it is significant that two of the most splendid passages in his teaching are directed against religious egotism. There is, first, the parable of the Pharisee and the Publican, which, amongst other things, is a matchless piece of dramatic characterization and living narrative; so powerful in sheer literary quality, that the two praying figures, the one erect and haughty, the other humble and abashed, have become part of universal thought. Then there is another parable of equal, perhaps of even greater literary perfection, the story of the Good Samaritan. It is a test of the force of Jesus, that his use of an obscure tribal name in this single story has introduced the word Samaritan into all modern languages; just as another parable has for all time changed the significance of "talent" from a Roman weight to an intellectual power. The persons against whom this parable is directed, are not a Dives and a Cæsar, as we might, perhaps, expect, but a priest and a Levite; as though, in the thought of the teacher, religious egotism is most prone of all things to check the flow of charity. The word Pharisee comes from a Hebrew root meaning "to separate," and the religious sense of separateness, which says "Lord, I thank thee I am not as other men," is thus made the target

of two of the most eloquent sermons in the whole teaching of Jesus. It is a warning that egotism finds no firmer fortress anywhere in our nature than in religious bigotry. Unfortunately the need of the warning is written large in the history of the world, with its red record of "religious wars."

There is one passage even more scathing, though far less often quoted. It is in the narrative of the dinner to which Jesus was invited by Simon the Pharisee. It is best recorded by Luke. 30 He tells us that, while host and guests sat at dinner, "a woman in the city, which was a sinner," entered the house, bringing a box of precious unguent, and stood behind the couch of Jesus weeping; washing his feet with her tears, she wiped them with her hair, and kissed his feet, annointing them with the ointment. The host, Simon the Pharisee, saw it, and wondered that any one claiming illumination could fail to discern that the woman was 'a sinner.' He said nothing, but his thought was read, and his guest addressed him: "Simon, I have somewhat to say unto thee," and told the story of the two debtors, to whom fifty and five hundred pence were forgiven. Then comes the application. Turning to the woman, he said to Simon: "Seest thou this woman? I entered into thine house, thou gayest me no water for my feet: but she hath washed my feet with tears and wiped them with the hairs of her head. Thou gavest me no kiss: but this woman since the time I came in hath not ceased to kiss my feet. My head with oil thou didst not annoint: but this woman hath annointed my feet with ointment."

VI.

Turning once more, for comparison, to the Upanishads, we shall find their teaching almost the same at each stage. We have seen already that the contrast between God and mammon is sharply drawn, by Death the Initiator, and that the postulant for spiritual life must renounce completely the ideals of worldly success, dear and dearly loved desires, riches and princely rank, sons and grandsons and gold, and the whole "way of wealth in which many men sink," before he can enter the path of immortality, the "small old path, stretching far away." Moreover, we have, even more explicitly than in Paul's great epistle, the teaching as to the psychical and spiritual bodies, a teaching which lies at the heart of all later Indian psychology. The psychical body is, in a certain sense the body of desire, the body of loves and hates in a purely selfish and personal sense. One might call it an etheric double of the physical

body; and to it are transferred the animal instincts of the physical body,—transferred and transformed. The instinct of self-defence becomes egotism, ambition, the desire of domination. The instinct of reproduction becomes passion and desire, and begins to take, in psychical life, a force and prominence which simple animal life knows nothing of. The psychical body is thus the body of desire, of darkness, of egotism. Above and behind it, according to the Eastern teaching, is the spiritual body, the body of immortality, to which the name "the Higher Self" is often given. This spiritual body is the vesture and dwelling-place of the Spirit, and has its own divine powers, its own divine senses. Between the spiritual bodies of different people there can be none of that enmity which reigns between psychical natures, for, before either can live in the spiritual body, they must have left all enmity behind.

Thus, for the Indian teaching, charity, the second of the commandments of Jesus, is the necessary consequence of obedience to the first. Charity is an inherent quality of the spiritual body, and it is impossible to inherit the one without inheriting the other.

Let us make this more explicit, by quoting a few verses from one of the Upanishads, one in which the spiritual body and its indwelling Spirit are called "the Lord," just as Paul so calls them: "All must be pervaded by the Lord, whatever moves in the passing world; through this renounced thou shalt enjoy, nor grudge to any one his wealth....He who beholds all beings in the Soul, and the Soul in all beings, thereafter blames none any more....He who has understood wisdom and unwisdom both, by unwisdom crossing through death, by wisdom reaches the immortal."³¹

VII.

According to the teaching of the Upanishads, behind and above the psychical body stands the spiritual body, the Higher Self, the immortal. To it are given many names: the Ancient, the Seer, the ancient Poet, the Lord. The aim of all life is the passage from the mortal, psychical self of illusion, of dream and desire, to the immortal Self of divine light.

Above the Higher Self stands the Supreme Self, the Eternal, in whom all Higher Selves are set, as the rays are set in the sun. He who rises first to the Higher Self will rise later to know himself as the Supreme Self of all beings, not thereby losing individuality, but rather finding his true individuality, immortal and eternal. He becomes possessor of endless worlds, who knows this.

³¹ Isha Upanishad, 1 et seq.

This path is entered only after all desires that dwell in the heart are set free; when the man dreams no more dreams, and desires no more desires. Then only does the mortal become the immortal, and enter the Eternal. Wisdom consists in the revelation first of the Higher Self, and then of the Eternal. When these have been revealed in the realm within, it might well be said that to such a one the Father had come, and made his abode with him; that he had entered the realm of the heavens, and found the king within his kingdom.